IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-IA-01181-SCT

RUTH FREDERICKS, M.D., AND J. MARTIN TUCKER, M.D.

PETITIONERS/APPELLANTS

V.

C. ERIC MALOUF AND KRISTINE K.
MALOUF, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON
BEHALF OF KIMBERLY T. MALOUF,
A MINOR

RESPONDENTS/APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANT J. MARTIN TUCKER, M.D.

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM DECISION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO. 251-03-77 CIV

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

PREPARED AND SUBMITTED BY:

WHITMAN B. JOHNSON III, MSE KRISTI D. KENNEDY, MSB

OF COUNSEL:

CURRIE JOHNSON GRIFFIN GAINES & MYERS, P.A. 1044 River Oaks Drive (39232)
Post Office Box 750
Jackson, MS 39205-0750

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Question No. 1: Can a defendant physician be deprived of the substantive venue right granted under MISS. CODE ANN. §11-11-3 (Rev. 2004), which requires a claim against a physician be brought only in the county where there alleged negligence occurred, simply because the plaintiff joined him into a lawsuit that had been pending for several years?

Answer: No. Section 11-11-3 is a <u>mandatory</u> venue statute which states that a suit against a physician "shall" be brought "only" in a specific court. Dr. Tucker was subject to suit only in Rankin County, where the treatment at issue occurred. Consequently, this action (or alternatively the claims against Dr. Tucker) must be transferred to Rankin County, the only proper venue as to Dr. Tucker. See Adams v. Baptist Mem'l Hosp.-DeSoto, Inc., 965 So. 2d 652, 656 (¶22) (Miss. 2007); Rose v. Bologna, 942 So. 2d 1287, 1290 (¶9) (Miss. 2006).

Question No. 2: Regardless of the venue issue, should the plaintiffs' claim against Dr. Tucker be dismissed on legal grounds?

Answer: Yes. The Maloufs allege that if Dr. Tucker had provided them appropriate information regarding the risks of anti-seizure medication, they would not have conceived Kimberly Malouf. Consequently, plaintiffs' claims are based on a theory that Kimberly Malouf should not have been born. However, because any life is a benefit over non-existence, Mississippi has yet to recognize such a claim.

The Maloufs' claims are further barred by both the two-year statute of limitations and the seven-year statue of repose found at MISS. CODE. ANN. § 15-1-36. The care at issue occurred in late 1995, but suit was not brought against Dr. Tucker until more than seven (7) years later. The Maloufs were also told by Kimberly's physicians more than two (2) years prior to the time that they sued Dr. Tucker that the anti-seizure medication may have caused Kimberly Malouf's alleged condition.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellees/Respondents C. Eric Malouf and Kristine K. Malouf, individually and on behalf of Kimberly T. Malouf, a Minor ("the Maloufs"), filed a medical negligence suit on December 31, 2002, against Ruth Fredericks, M.D. [R 91-94]. Although the care at issue (and the service of process) occurred in Rankin County, the Maloufs filed their suit against Dr. Fredericks in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi.

In their Complaint, the Maloufs alleged that Dr. Fredericks was negligent in monitoring and regulating seizure medication given to Kristine Malouf while she was pregnant with Kimberly Malouf, causing their daughter, Kimberly, to suffer injury. [R. 91-94; R. 323 (page 121, lines 4-13)]. The theory of the Maloufs' case was that Dr. Fredericks prescribed an insufficient amount of seizure medicine to Mrs. Malouf during her pregnancy and that as a result, she suffered seizures during pregnancy which allegedly caused their child to be born with brain damage. [R. 92; R. 345 (page 31, lines 9-22)].

After litigating this action for well over three years, the Maloufs completely changed their theory of the case. On May 5, 2006, they filed an Amended Complaint on grounds that their daughter's alleged injuries were caused not due to <u>insufficient</u> seizure medicine as they originally claimed, but <u>because</u> of the seizure medicine she was prescribed by Dr. Fredericks. [R. 35; R. 383 (page 38, line 18–page 39, line 9)]. In this Amended Complaint filed three and one-half years after their original suit was filed against Dr. Fredericks, the Maloufs also sued Appellant/Petitioner J. Martin Tucker, M.D., as a defendant for the first time. [R. 34-38]. The Maloufs alleged that Dr. Tucker was negligent in failing to provide proper pre-pregnancy counseling, failing to properly warn of the risks of seizure medication, and failing to obtain proper informed consent. [R. 35].

Prior to the suit against Dr. Tucker, the Mississippi venue statute was amended to mandate that "any action against a licensed physician . . . for malpractice, negligence, error, omission, mistake, breach of standard of care or the unauthorized rendering of professional services shall be brought only in the county in which the alleged act or omission occurred." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-11-3(3) (Rev. 2004) (emphasis added). Because Dr. Tucker's allegedly negligent care occurred in Rankin County, Mississippi, venue is proper as to him only in Rankin County. [R. 280 (page 21, lines 2-7)]. Accordingly, in response to the Maloufs' Amended Complaint, Dr. Tucker filed his Motion for Change of Venue, with Alternative Motion to Dismiss, and Answer to Amended Complaint, which was joined by Dr. Fredericks. [R. 248-252; 253-254]. Dr. Tucker asserted in this motion that venue as to him was proper only in Rankin County and requested that this case be transferred to that county. [R. 248]. In the alternative, Dr. Tucker asked in his motion that the cause of action against him only be severed and transferred, leaving the Maloufs' claims against Dr. Fredericks in the First Judicial District of Hinds County. [R. 248].

Additionally, in this motion, Dr. Tucker asked that the Maloufs' claims be dismissed for failure to state a claim against Dr. Tucker for which relief could be granted and/or because they were barred by the applicable statute of limitations. [R. 249]. A brief was filed in support thereof and a hearing initially noticed, then postponed at the Maloufs' request. [R.E. Apps. 8 and 5]. Thereafter, attempts were made to get these various motions heard as reflected by the letters and emails of counsel. [R.E. App. 6 (Ex. 1)].

In an effort to draw the Court's attention to these motions, Dr. Tucker ultimately filed a Supplemental Joint Motion and Brief in Support of Motion for Change of Venue and Alternative

¹ Appendicies attached to the Record Excerpts will be cited as "R.E. App."

Motion for Summary Judgment on February 19, 2009. [R. 76-90]. Because he had not been given a hearing date by the trial court, Dr. Tucker noticed it for hearing as soon as counsel could be heard. [R. 74-75]. Dr. Tucker again urged the trial court in his supplemental motion that a change of venue was required per the current version of § 11-11-3(3). In the alternative, Dr. Tucker sought summary judgment in his favor on the grounds that the Maloufs had failed to state a claim against him on which relief could be granted, that their claims were barred by the applicable statute of limitations, and/or that there was no genuine issue of material fact so that Dr. Tucker was entitled to summary judgment. [R. 76-90].

On July 16, 2009, the trial court entered an Order denying Dr. Tucker's Motion for Change of Venue. [R. 229-233]. Additionally, the trial court denied Dr. Tucker's motion for summary judgment. *Id.* Thereafter, Dr. Tucker and Dr. Fredericks separately petitioned this Court for permission to file an interlocutory appeal from this ruling. [R.E. App. 6; R. 218-257]. This Court granted their petitions by Order dated July 28, 2009, and Corrected Order dated July 29, 2009. Accordingly, Dr. Tucker has filed this appeal to respectfully request that this Court not only reverse the July 16, 2009 Order of the trial court denying Dr. Tucker's motion for transfer of venue, but also to render a judgment dismissing Dr. Tucker from this action with prejudice.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO APPEAL

Appellant Dr. Ruth Fredericks, a neurologist, began treating Appellee Kristine Malouf around Thanksgiving in 1994 after Mrs. Malouf suffered a generalized seizure. [R. 276 (page 6, line 18—page 7, line 1)]. When Mrs. Malouf developed an allergic reaction to the initial seizure medication prescribed, Dr. Fredericks prescribed Depakote, which was effective in controlling her seizures. [R. 276 (page 7, lines 2-7, 11-13); R. 303 (page 39, line 21-page 40, line 12); R. 376 (page 9, lines 112-19; page 11, lines 5-8)].

In late 1995, Mrs. Malouf became interested in becoming pregnant. Her OB/GYN at the time did not want her to become pregnant while she was on Depakote. [R. 278 (page 14, lines 6-22; page 15, lines 16-24); R. 309 (page 64, line 10-page 65, line 2); R. 312 (page 75, line 11-page 76, line 3)]. Dr. Fredericks then referred her to Appellant Dr. Tucker, a maternal/fetal specialist, for further discussion regarding pregnancy and her seizure medication. [R. 279, page 19, lines 12-15); R. 311 (page 73, lines 16-24)]. On December 29, 1995, Mr. and Mrs. Malouf met with Dr. Tucker, at which time he discussed the fetal effects of Depakote. [Appendix 1; R. 279 (page 20, line 23—page 21, line 7); R. 308 (page 60, line 17-page 61, line 4); R. 309 (page 65, lines 3-24); R. 310 (page 69, lines 4-7); R. 311 (page 71, line 19-page 72, line 4)]. As documented in his records, Dr. Tucker even provided the Maloufs with pages from a medical textbook regarding Depakote and its possible side effects. [Appendix 1]. Although the Maloufs now deny receiving this information, Mrs. Malouf, in a deposition she gave before suing Dr. Tucker, acknowledged that if the anti-seizure medication had caused injury to her daughter, it was her responsibility. [R. 312, (page 75, line 16 - page 76, line 12)].

Mrs. Malouf ultimately decided to become pregnant and discontinued her birth control pills. [R. 282 (page 30, line 17-page 31, line 1); R. 311 (page 73, lines 1-2)]. In August 1996, shortly after

becoming pregnant, Mrs. Malouf suffered various seizures requiring hospitalization and increasing doses of her seizure medicine. [R. 282 (page 32, lines 4-25; page 33, lines 1-25)]. Mrs. Malouf then transferred her neurological care from Dr. Fredericks to Dr. Salil Tiwari, another local neurologist, who continued to increase her doses of Depakote. [R. 283 (page 34, lines 14-17; page 36, lines 12-23); R. 320 (page 109, lines 22-24); R. 321 (page 110, lines 2-3); R. 381 (page 31, line 11-page 32, line 2)].

Mrs. Malouf gave birth to Kimberly Malouf in March 1997. [R. 375 (page 6, line 6)]. Before Kimberly was two years old, Mr. and Mrs. Malouf began noticing developmental problems. [R. 375 (page 6, line 7-page 7, line 19); R. 390 (page 66, lines 16-24)]. They eventually saw Dr. Ronald Burke, a pediatric orthopedist, who specifically discussed with them the possibility that Depakote had caused their child's problems. [Appendix 2]. Another physician, Dr. Collette Parker, also told them that the medicine could have caused their child's condition. [R. 287 (page 52, lines 23-25) through R. 288 (page 53, lines 1-5, 7-13, 21-25; page 54, lines 1-16, 19-24)]. The Maloufs filed suit on their daughter's behalf in December 2002, but against only Dr. Fredericks, alleging that insufficient Depakote administration had resulted in injury to Kimberly Malouf. [R. 91-94]. They joined Dr. Tucker in their suit for the first time three and one-half years later when they decided to claim for the first time that it was the Depakote that caused Kimberly's alleged injury. [R. 34].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In 2004, the Mississippi Legislature amended the venue statute found at §11-11-3 to provide for a specific venue in cases against physicians and other medical care providers. Under the 2004 statute, a physician was subject to suit only in the county where his allegedly negligent care occurred. The legislature enacted this venue provision in order to give individual physicians in this state some confidence that venue against a particular physician would be based on his care and treatment, not on the actions of some other alleged torfeasor. Before the amendment, venue in any particular case was limited only by the ingenuity of a plaintiff's attorney and the number of physicians or health care providers involved in a particular case. With the amendment, the legislature was telling physicians that an individual physician's actions would be judged by jurors in the county only where his allegedly negligent care occurred.

This Court has historically recognized that venue is a substantive right, even for a defendant. In fact, the "right of a defendant to be sued in the venue fixed by statute is too valuable to permit it to be destroyed at the whim or will, or for the convenience, of a plaintiff." *Christian v. McDonald*, 907 So. 2d 286, 291 (¶ 23) (Miss. 2005). In this particular case, venue as to Dr. Tucker is mandatorily set by statute to be Rankin County, where the alleged negligence occurred. Section 11-11-3 (3) says that venue as to a medical care provider "shall" be "only" in the county where the alleged act or omission occurred. As this Court recognized in *Adams v. Baptist Mem'l Hosp.-DeSoto, Inc.*, 965 So. 2d 652, 656 (¶22) (Miss. 2007), Section 11-11-3 (3) is a mandatory venue statute as to physicians and suit against them may only be pursued in the county where the alleged negligence occurred. In fact, as this Court mentioned in *Rose v. Bologna*, 942 So. 2d 1287, 1290 (¶9) (Miss. 2006), where a trial court is not constrained by the requirement in Mississippi's wrongful death statute that there be but one lawsuit for the death of an individual, severance and transfer of

claims against different physicians who provided care in different counties is appropriate. Given the mandatory language of the amended venue statute, the trial court erroneously denied Dr. Tucker's motion to transfer the case, or the claims against him, to Rankin County – the only county where venue as to him was proper.

However, this Court may not even need to reach the venue issue since the plaintiffs' claims against Dr. Tucker are subject to dismissal on various legal grounds. To begin with, the Maloufs' individual claims fail to state a legal claim upon which relief can be granted. According to Mississippi law, parents have no claim for alleged injuries suffered by their child, even though they may claim injury from their personal worry over the child's injury. *Downtown Grill, Inc. v. Connell,* 721 So. 2d 1113, 1121-1122 (¶¶34-35) (Miss. 1998). However, even more to the point is the fact that the Maloufs' claims are based on a theory that Dr. Tucker allegedly failed to provide them with information regarding the risks of the anti-seizure medicine, Depakote, and that if he had done so, they would not have conceived a child. Under this theory, however, Kimberly Malouf would not have been born, such that the Maloufs' claim is what is commonly referred to as a "wrongful life claim," a theory which has never been recognized in the State of Mississippi. Perhaps more importantly, however, is that the Maloufs' claim is directly contrary to the public policy of this State, which encourages and protects life. *See 66 Fed. Credit Union v. Tucker*, 853 So. 2d 104, 113 (¶29) (Miss. 2003).

Finally, even if such claims were cognizable under Mississippi law, they are barred by the statute of limitations and the statute of repose as found in § 15-1-36. The record is clear that the Maloufs knew more than two years before the time they sued Dr. Tucker in May 2006, that Kimberly's alleged condition could be the result of the Depakote that Mrs. Malouf had taken during pregnancy. Records from Dr. Ronald Burke, the pediatric orthopedic physician to whom Kimberly

was taken by her parents in September 1998, show that Dr. Burke specifically referenced in his notes his discussion with the family about the possibility of Depakote- related conditions. [Appendix 2]. Similarly, Mrs. Malouf acknowledged being told by another neurologist, Dr. Collette Parker, that Kimberly's medical issues could have been caused by Depakote. [R. 287 (page 52, lines 23-25) through R. 288 (page 53, lines 1-5, 7-13, 21-25; page 54, lines 1-16, 19-24)]. Consequently, suit against Dr. Tucker was filed well after the two (2) year statute of limitations found at Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 had run. Additionally, given the fact that Dr. Tucker's care in question occurred in December 1995, and the fact that Kimberly was born in March 1997, the filing of the Maloufs' suit in May 2006 is well beyond the seven (7) year statute of repose, which bars a suit without regard to the time in which discovery of the claim is alleged.

For all of these reasons, Appellant/Petitioner Dr. Tucker asks this Court to dismiss the claims of the Maloufs with prejudice and render a judgment in his favor. If the claims are not dismissed, Appellant/Petitioner Dr. Tucker respectfully requests that this Court reverse the decision of the trial court and transfer this case to Rankin County or, in the alternative, sever and transfer the Maloufs' claims against Dr. Tucker to Rankin County as required by the mandatory venue provisions of Section 11-11-3(3).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

As to the first issue in this appeal – whether a defendant physician can be deprived of his substantive right to be subject to suit only in the county where the alleged medical negligence occurred as required by MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-11-3 (Rev. 2004) simply because the plaintiff brought suit against him by joining him into a pending lawsuit – there are two possible standards of review – abuse of discretion and *de novo*. Although an abuse of discretion standard normally applies to rulings on motion for change of venue, the mandatory language used in the statute leaves no room for discretion, therefore this Court should apply a *de novo* standard of review because the determination of this issue will require statutory interpretation. *Adams*, 965 So. 2d at 655 (¶11).

With regard to the second issue of this appeal – whether Dr. Tucker is entitled to have the case dismissed either because the Maloufs' claims are not cognizable under Mississippi law or because they are barred by the statutes of limitations and repose found in § 15-1-36, this Court must employ a *de novo* standard of review. Review of a trial court's determination of a motion for summary judgment under MISSISSIPPI RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 56 is *de novo*. *McMillan v. Rodriguez*, 823 So. 2d 1173, 1176-1177 (¶9) (Miss. 2002). Further, questions regarding the statutes of limitations or repose are questions of law which require a *de novo* standard of review. *Sheriff v. Morris*, 767 So. 2d 1062, 1064 (¶10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006).

II. A defendant physician cannot be deprived of his substantive venue right to be subject to suit only in the county where the alleged medical negligence occurred simply because the plaintiff brought suit against him by joining him into a pending lawsuit.

At the time the Maloufs filed their original lawsuit against only Dr. Fredericks, MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-11-3 (1999) provided that "[c]ivil actions of which the circuit court had original jurisdiction shall be commenced in the county in which the defendant or any of them may be found or in the county where the cause of action may occur or accrue." However, prior to the Maloufs' bringing suit against Dr. Tucker, MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-11-3 was amended to add a subsection specifically designating a mandatory venue for medical negligence cases "notwithstanding" the general venue provisions found elsewhere in the statute. MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-11-3(3) (Rev. 2004). Particularly, the Legislature amended this statute to mandate:

Notwithstanding subsection (1) of this section, any action against a licensed physician, osteopath, dentist, nurse, nurse-practitioner, physician assistant, psychologist, pharmacist, podiatrist, optometrist, chiropractor, institution for the aged or infirm, hospital or licensed pharmacy, including any legal entity which may be liable for their acts or omissions, for malpractice, negligence, error, omission, mistake, breach of standard of care or the unauthorized rendering of professional services shall be brought only in the county in which the alleged act or omission occurred.

Id. (Emphasis added). With the amendment, the Legislature established an exclusive venue statute which provides that any action for malpractice or medical negligence against a doctor "shall be" brought "only" in the county where the alleged malpractice or negligence occurred. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-11-3(3) (emphasis added). This statute does not give the trial court any discretion in determining venue in medical negligence cases. Move importantly, it gives plaintiffs no right to choose among venues when they file suit against a physician.

In this case, the Maloufs are asserting that Dr. Tucker was negligent in failing to provide proper pre-pregnancy counseling, failing to properly warn of the risks of seizure medication, and

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