IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI  
NO. 2009-IA-01181-SCT

RUTH FREDERICKS, M.D. and  
J. MARTIN TUCKER, M.D.

PETITIONERS/APPELLANTS

v.

C. ERIC MALOUF and KRISTINE K. MALOUF,  
Individually and on Behalf of  
KIMBERLY T. MALOUF, a Minor

RESPONDENTS/APPELLEES

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE  
CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY,  
MISSISSIPPI, CIVIL ACTION NO. 251-03-77 CIV

---

BRIEF OF APPELLEES C. ERIC MALOUF AND KRISTINE K. MALOUF,  
INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF KIMBERLY T. MALOUF, A MINOR

---

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Defendant's request for change of venue. Plaintiffs' original Complaint was filed on December 31, 2002, at that time the 2002 version of the venue statute was applicable. Fredericks agrees that venue was proper for her. Subsequently, on May 5, 2006, Plaintiffs filed their amended complaint adding Tucker as a party to this lawsuit. Plaintiffs' amended complaint did not create a "new cause of action." It merely added a party and asserted an additional claim within the original "cause of action." Further, pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 15, Plaintiffs' amended complaint relates back to the date of filing because the "claim asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth .. in the original pleading" which is the Defendants negligent treatment of the seizure disorder. Therefore, the 2002 venue version of the venue statute applies and venue is proper in Hinds County, Mississippi.

In the alternative, if this Court finds that the 2004 venue statute applies, then venue is still proper in Hinds County, Mississippi. Both Fredericks and Tucker's negligent acts and omissions occurred, at least in part, in Hinds County, Mississippi. Both doctors treated Plaintiff Kristine Malouf in Hinds County, Mississippi. Therefore, venue is proper in Hinds County irrespective of whether this Court applies the 2002 or 2004 versions of the venue statute.

The lower court was correct in finding that the statute of limitations had not expired with regard to Plaintiff's claims. Fredericks does not dispute that Plaintiffs' claims against her were filed within the applicable statute of limitations period. The

only issue on appeal is whether or not Plaintiff's claims against Tucker were filed within the statute of limitations.

Despite diligent investigation, Plaintiff had no evidence that Tucker was negligent until the deposition of Fredericks on November 30, 2004. On said date, Defendant Fredericks, testified that she and Dr. Tucker were jointly responsible for maintaining the seizure medication. Prior to November 30, 2004, Plaintiffs had been repeatedly advised by Dr. Tucker that he, as the OB, was not responsible for prescribing, testing, controlling, or maintaining seizure medication. In fact, Tucker advised Plaintiffs that Dr. Fredericks, as the neurologist, was solely responsible. Plaintiffs were put on notice of Tucker's negligence on November 30, 2004, and confirmed on November 28, 2005 when Fredericks Independent Medical Examination by Dr. Duane W. Superneau revealed for the first time that Kimberly suffered from Fetal Valproate Syndrome. After the November 20, 2004 deposition and the November 28, 2005 IME report revealed Tucker's negligence, he was brought into this litigation on May 5, 2006, well within the statute of limitations.

## ARGUMENT

### I. Standard of Review

On appeal, this Court applies an abuse of discretion standard when reviewing the denial of a motion to transfer venue. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Defendant Fredericks' motion for change of venue in its order dated July 16, 2009.

"In cases pertaining to a motion for a change of venue, this Court has repeatedly applied the abuse of discretion standard of review." *Rose v. Bologna*, 942 So. 2d 1287, (Miss. 2006).

This Court held in *Wayne General Hospital v. Hayes* 868 So.2d 997, 1002 (Miss. 2004):

In reviewing a trial court's ruling on a motion to change venue, this Court applies the abuse of discretion standard. *Guice v. Miss. Life Ins. Co.*, 836 So.2d 756, 758 (Miss. 2003). A trial judge's ruling on such an application "will not be disturbed on appeal unless it clearly appears that there has been an abuse of discretion or that the discretion has not been justly and properly exercised in the circumstances of the case.

This Court applies a de novo standard when reviewing the denial of a summary judgment motion. Tucker contends the statute of limitations has expired regarding Plaintiff's claims against him, however Fredericks makes no such claim. Such a contention by Tucker inevitably requires a discovery rule analysis. In *Stringer v. Trapp*, 30 So. 3d 339, (Miss. 2010), this Court stated,

The question of whether a statute of limitations is tolled by the discovery rule often turns on the factual determination of 'what the plaintiff knew and when.' *Huss*, 991 So. 2d at 168. Thus, '[o]ccasionally the question of whether the suit is barred by the statute of limitations is a question of fact for the jury ...

In the instant case, when Plaintiffs knew or should have known of Tucker's negligent

acts and omissions is a question for the jury. Plaintiffs' have offered overwhelming evidence that the statute of limitations has not expired, or in the alternative that the discovery rule tolled the statute of limitations for their claims against Tucker.

**II. This Court Should Affirm The Trial Court's Denial of Defendant's Motion For Transfer Of Venue Because The 2002 Venue Statute Applies To This Case.**

It is undisputed that when Plaintiffs filed their initial Complaint on December 31, 2002, the 2002 version of Section 11-11-3 was applicable to the instant case. Moreover, the 2002 version is also applicable to Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint. The provisions of Section 11-11-3, Miss. Code Ann. (1972) stated in part:

Civil actions of which the circuit court has original jurisdiction shall be commenced in the county where the **defendant resides or in the county where the alleged act or omission occurred or where the event that caused the injury occurred.**

It is undisputed that Fredericks resided and maintained an office in Hinds County, Mississippi when initially served. Additionally, Fredericks negligent acts and omissions occurred in Hinds County as she treated Plaintiffs at St. Dominic's Hospital in Hinds County. Fredericks's Answer to the original Complaint did not dispute that venue was proper in Hinds County.

**A. Fredericks Admits That Venue Was Proper When The Original Complaint Was Filed.**

Fredericks admits that venue was proper in Hinds County when the original Complaint was filed on December 31, 2002. (R. at 17). Specifically, on page 6 of her Petition for Interlocutory Appeal, she states:

As the Complaint was filed on December 31, 2002, Dr. Fredericks had **no arguable basis to file for a change of venue**. . . Had she done so, Dr. Fredericks would have surely been accused of filing a frivolous motion and been sanctioned based on the statute in effect when the Complaint was filed. (R. 218, emphasis added)

Again in her Brief before this Court, Fredericks admits:

When the lawsuit was filed, Dr. Fredericks admitted that she was a resident of Hinds County, Mississippi....For that reason, Dr. **Fredericks would have had no basis for file a motion for transfer** of venue when the lawsuit was initially filed....Dr Fredericks did not have a right to have venue transferred in 2002. (Fredericks' Brief at 28, emphasis added).

Although Fredericks agrees that she had "no basis" to file a motion for transfer, she now claims that the amended complaint now entitles her to seek a change of venue. No case law is cited by Fredericks to support such a claim, as case law is clearly to the contrary. As this Court held in *Wayne General Hospital v. Hayes*, 868 So.2d 997, 1002 (Miss. 2004):

Moreover, "proper venue is determined at the time the lawsuit is originally filed, and subsequent dismissal of the defendant upon whom venue is based does not destroy proper venue." *Estate of Jones v. Quinn* 716 So.2d 624, 826 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Blackledge v. Scott*, 530 So.2d 1363, 1365 (Miss. 1988)

In support of her brief, Fredericks executed an affidavit stating that she was served with process at her office located in Rankin County. (Exhibit "D" of Fredericks' brief) What Fredericks fails to reveal in her affidavit is that she resides in Hinds County and has two (2) offices, one of which is located at the University of Mississippi Medical center located in the city of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County. At her deposition taken on November 30, 2004, Fredericks testified, as follows:

Q. Could you state your current home address?

- A. 2016 Cullywood Drive, Jackson, Mississippi.  
Q. And your current professional address?  
A. I have two. One is 1020 River Oaks Drive, Suite 420, Jackson, Mississippi. The other is 2500 North State Street, Clinical Sciences Building, University of Mississippi Medical Center.

(R. at 476).

Though Fredericks' affidavit was carefully crafted to be factually evasive, the location of Fredericks' offices is a non-issue. Miss. Code Ann. 11-11-3(3) (2007) clearly provides that venue is proper "in the county where the defendant resides" or where "the alleged act or omission occurred."

Defendant, Tucker, also does not dispute that venue for Fredericks is proper in Hinds County, but only alleges that, "as to him venue is proper only in circuit court of Rankin County..." ( R. at 428).

**B. Fredericks Waived Objection To Venue.**

Fredericks never objected to venue until June 2006 when she joined in Defendant Tucker's motion, 3 ½ years after the original complaint was filed. The law in Mississippi is well settled that if an objection to venue is not timely asserted, it is waived. *American Family Life Assurance of Columbus v. Ellison*, 4 So.3d 1049 (Miss. 2009); *Wofford v. Citi Service Oil Co.*, 236 So.2d 743 (Miss. 1970). Additionally, Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(h) provides that a defense of improper venue is waived if not properly presented as required by Miss. R. Civ. P. 12:

(h) Waiver or Preservation of Certain Defenses.

(1) A defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person, improper venue, insufficiency of process, or insufficiency of service of process is waived (A) if omitted from a motion in the circumstances described in subdivision (g) (emphasis added)

The lower court held in its July 16, 2009, Order, "the Defendants' continued

participation in litigation for three (3) years after the Motion to Transfer Venue was filed waived improper venue.” (R. at 215) The lower court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Defendants waived their objection to venue. (See also Trial Court’s Response to Writ of Mandamus, Malouf Appendix C).

**C. Defendants Abandoned Said Motions**

On August 15, 2006, at the hearing on Defendants’ Motion to Transfer of Venue and alternative Motion for Summary Judgment, Defendants withdrew said motion. Said motion was not timely amended or renewed. In fact, this case was scheduled for trial for April 6, 2009, but due to the trial court’s conflict, was continued the week prior to trial. No time prior to said scheduled trial did Defendants seek a hearing on this matter either before this Court or the trial court.

Defendants assertions that they could not set a hearing date is simply false. The lower court specifically denies this assertion. (Malouf Appendix C). Defendant Tucker’s original Motion to Change Venue was filed on June 5, 2006, which was joined by Fredericks on June 12, 2006. At the hearing of said motion on August 15, 2006, Defendants announced to the Court that they wished to withdraw their motion for change of venue. On August 15, 2006, Defendants had an opportunity to be heard on their motions, but rather dismissed said motions. Subsequent to the withdrawal of said motions, Defendants failed to renew or file amended motions until February 20, 2009, when Tucker filed his Supplemental Motion for Change of Venue and For Summary Judgment, which was filed well past the motion deadline of June 28, 2007. (R. 488)

3. That counsel shall serve all other pretrial motions, both dispositive and non-dispositive, excepting only evidentiary in limine motions, no later than June 28, 2007. (emphasis not added)

These deadlines may not be extended by agreement of the parties, but only by permission of the Court upon the showing of good cause.

R. at 488).

Defendants argue that the trial court has refused or failed to hear their motions. Again, this is absolutely false. Defendants have had several hearing dates in which various motions were heard and in which Defendants were provided an opportunity to bring these issues before the court. Said hearing dates include but are not limited to: Notice of Hearing set for April 18, 2006; Notice of Hearing set for August 15, 2006; Notice of Hearing set for February 1, 2008. (R. at 490, 491, 492) (Record Exc. at 7,8, 9). The trial court's docket sheet details Defendants' numerous hearing dates obtained from the lower court. (R. at 1-15)

The lower court held:

[i]nasmuch as no genuine effort was made to schedule, notice or renew the 2006 motion until after the time had lapsed for the filing of dispositive motions in 2009, the court is of the opinion that the 2006 Motion to Transfer Venue had been abandoned.

(R. at 214-215).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Defendants abandoned said motions.

**D. Venue Is Also Proper For Tucker In Hinds County, Mississippi.**

Fredericks and Tucker both incorrectly base their entire argument for the transfer of venue under the presumption that the 2004 venue statute applies. In particular, they rely on §11-11-3(3) which was not effective until January 1, 2003

after the filing of this action. In relying on the 2004 venue statute, Tucker argues that venue should be transferred to the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi because that is where he treated the Plaintiffs. However, Dr. Tucker also treated Plaintiff Krista Malouf at St. Dominic's Hospital in Hinds County, Mississippi. Moreover, Tucker does not address the point that Defendant Fredericks, who remains a viable Defendant, resides in Hinds County, has an office in Hinds County, and treated the Plaintiffs in Hinds County, Mississippi. There is no doubt that venue was proper at the time this action was originally filed and remains proper in Hinds County.

Even if Rankin County is a permissible venue for Tucker, the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Bayer Corp. v. Reed*, 932 So.2d 786 (Miss. 2006), reiterated Plaintiff's right to choose among permissible venues. "It is the plaintiff's prerogative to decide where, among permissible venues, to sue the defendant." *Bayer*, at 788-9 (citing *Forrest County Gen. Hosp. v. Conway*, 700 So.2d 324, 326 (Miss. 1997)). The Court further stated:

We have described a plaintiff's ability to choose a forum as a "right":  
"Of right, the plaintiff selects among the permissible venues and his choice must be sustained unless in the end there is no credible evidence supporting the factual basis for the claim of venue."

*Bayer*, at 790 (quoting *Flight Line, Inc. v. Tanksley*, 608 So.2d 1149, 1155 (Miss. 1992)).

In the instant case, Plaintiff has the right to choose among permissible venues. At the time of the filing of the complaint venue was proper in the First Judicial District of Hinds County and remains so today. Additionally, Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint, venue was proper under both the 2002 venue statute and

the amended statute as both Defendants' negligent acts and omission occurred in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi. Fredericks and Tucker both treated Kristine in Hinds County, at each treatment Defendants failed to properly monitor and control the anti-seizure medication, failed to recommend an alternative anti-seizure medications, Defendants failed to advise Plaintiffs of the dangers of Depakote, failed to prescribe folic acid, failed to prescribe anti-seizure medication consistent with the nationally-recognized, minimally acceptable level of competency, and actually increased the Depakote dosage which also increased the harm to the fetus. The law is clear that Plaintiffs have the right to choose among permissible venues and therefore venue is proper in Hinds County.

**E. The Amended Complaint Is Not A New Cause Of Action**

On May 5, 2006, Plaintiffs filed their Amended Complaint against Ruth Fredericks, M.D., and J. Martin Tucker, M.D. Plaintiffs' amended complaint does not create "a new theory of causation." The amended complaint arises from the exact same facts, conduct, transactions, and occurrences set forth in the original complaint regarding the negligent prescribing of anti-seizure medication during pregnancy.

Plaintiffs have not changed, withdrawn or abandoned their theories of negligence alleged in their original Complaint against Fredericks. Said theories are still viable and should be considered by a jury. Even Defendant's expert, Dr. John Dale Cleary opined that Fredericks improper monitoring of the anti-seizure medications which caused seizures during Kristine's pregnancy is a probable cause of Kimberly's problems. Specifically he stated:

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